
                                                August 8, 2025 

 
Questions & Answers​

Philadelphia Request for Proposals: ​
Owner’s Representative for Wastewater Treatment Plants GESA Project 

 
RFP Clarifying Questions 

 
1.​ Q: Does PEA seek an Owner’s Representative, or Owner’s Engineer? 

a.​ A: PEA seeks an Owner’s Representative. 
2.​ Q: In RFP Section 4.3.2 Introduction and Executive Summary, is the page limit for the 

Introduction and Executive Summary section four (4) or two (2) pages? 
a.​ A: Respondents should limit their introduction and Executive Summary to two (2) 

pages.  
3.​ Q: Section 3.2.2 mentions a letter of intent to bid. Is this required?  

a.​ A: A letter of intent is not required to bid. 
4.​ Q: RFP Section 4.3.5 Additional Proposal Submission Requirements refers to an 

Attachment F & an Attachment G, both containing a “Philadelphia Tax and Regulatory 
Status and Clearance Statement”. In the publicly available RFP documents, it appears 
this Clearance Statement form is referred to as Attachment B, and there are no 
Attachments F or G. Please confirm that responders must only complete and submit 
Attachment B, and not any additional Attachments F or G. 

a.​ A: Confirmed; respondents should only complete and submit the Attachment B 
linked in the RFP web page.  

5.​ Q: In response to Proposal Section 4.3.5 (Additional Proposal Submission 
Requirements), item (a), can the PEA please confirm that proposers must fill out the 
provided Attachment labeled "Attachment B" and provide a Tax Clearance Certificate? 

a.​ A: Completion of Attachment B is sufficient, respondents do not need to provide 
a Tax Clearance Certificate as long as they certify one is available.  

6.​ Q: Can PEA provide weighting for each of the “Selection Criteria” a thru h? 
a.​ A: No; the Selection Criteria components are not weighted. 

7.​ Q: Can a complete schedule be provided? 
a.​ A: Respondents should refer to the estimated timeline publicized in the WWTP 

GESA RFP, and re-shared here: 
 

Activity Estimated Timeline 

Project approval and contract signing Fall 2025 

Investment Grade Audit (IGA) 
Completed 

Winter 2026 

Financing Secured Spring 2026, following IGA completion 
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Notice to Proceed Issued Spring 2026, following securing of 
financing 

Construction 2 years from Notice to Proceed 

Commissioning Six months 

Measurement & Verification 3 years following commissioning 

 
RFP Content Questions 

8.​ Q: Has a prime vendor been selected for the Wastewater Treatment Plants GESA RFP? 
a.​ A: Finalist interviews for Wastewater Treatment Plant proposers have taken 

place, however a winning proposer has not been announced. The owner’s rep 
should not expect to review ESCO proposals as part of its scope of services.  

9.​ Q: Can you share information on the scope and cost of the proposed ECMs that were 
clearly enumerated in the RFP? What is your budget for the GESA project? 

a.​ A: Because a winning proposer has not been announced, the proposed scope 
and estimated cost cannot be shared. Owner’s Representative RFP respondents 
should use Section 2 of the WWTP GESA RFP to estimate project scope and 
associated budget that they would oversee. 

10.​Q: What is your financing method (bond, capital reserve fund, other)? 
a.​ A: PEA anticipates issuing a bond for this GESA project.  

11.​Q: What is the term of the proposed GESA project? 
a.​ A: Respondents should expect a 20 year project. 

12.​Q: What M&V method is proposed by the ESCO, or preferred by the procurement team?  
a.​ A: Because a winning proposer has not been announced, the proposed M&V 

method cannot be shared. RFP respondents should expect an M&V method  that 
complies with International Performance Measurement and Verification (IPMVP) 
Standards. 

13.​Q: Does the ESCO Contractors proposal(s) adhere to the Project Phases as outlined in 
the ESCO RFP?  

a.​ A: Yes.  
14.​Q: How are you interpreting measures involving "the production/monetization and use of 

biogas to meet project objectives" under the GESA guidelines? What is the justification 
under GESA guidelines being used for "monetization" of the strategies in collaboration 
with PGW? 

a.​ A: The Procurement Team will include this aspect of the project into the GESA 
framework by referring to the GESA legislation Title 62, Ch. 37, SubCh. E, Sec. 
3752, ECM part 19.: "Other energy, water or wastewater measures as may 
provide measurable, long-term operating costs reductions or billable revenue 
increases." 
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15.​Q: Is the owner’s representative required to have the ability to broker energy, on behalf 
of the city?  There are two cases that may require this.  The sale of any energy 
(electricity or fuel) to the project site; and  secondly, the fuel sale resulting from the 
process to be implemented, and distributed via PGW. 

a.​ A: No, the owner’s representative is not required to have this ability.  
16.​Q: Can you please provide more information about the baseline conditions at each of the 

two sites (as it relates to this project) and how much and where the biogas is currently be 
used. 

a.​ A: For the purposes of this Owner’s Representative RFP, proposers can review 
Attachments B, B-1, B-2, C and D of the PEA Wastewater Treatment Plant GESA 
RFP to inform their response to this RFP. Further information that was subject to 
a non-disclosure agreement in the WWTP GESA RFP cannot be shared. 

17.​Q: Can PEA provide clarity on the amount of scope/effort to “provide guidance during 
negotiations to ensure favorable outcomes for the Procurement Team”? 

a.​ A: Proposers to this Owner’s Representative RFP should expect to participate in 
Guaranteed Energy Savings Contract (GESC) negotiations between PEA on 
behalf of the City of Philadelphia, and the selected ESCO, as needed. This may 
include attending meetings with legal counsel from both entities, as well as 
providing subject matter expertise to inform the content of any GESC Schedules 
or Attachments that relate to technical components of the project.  

18.​Q: Is the “Support Contracting” Scope of Services intended to include legal review or will 
PEA have internal legal counsel review contracts? 

a.​ A: PEA retains legal counsel, but expects the owner’s representative to 
participate in negotiations and provide guidance during negotiations to ensure 
favorable outcomes for the Procurement Team. 

19.​Q: If the guaranteed energy savings are not realized, is “assistance” intended to be legal 
advice, or will PEA have their legal counsel as well? 

a.​ A: PEA retains legal counsel. The selected ESCO will be required to remit 
Annual Savings Reports to demonstrate compliance with the Energy Savings 
Guarantee, as is typical with GESA projects. If there is a shortfall, the owner’s 
representative is expected to provide a technical review of the reports and their 
adherence to the required methodology. The owner’s representative advises PEA 
and the City, it is not an adjudicatory role.  

20.​Q: Please describe the scope needed for the role in “Supervising” the preparation of a 
detailed Investment Grade Audit (IGA)? 

a.​ A: The selected Owners Representative, in its supervising capacity, is expected 
to:  

i.​ Understand the importance of the IGA within the broader GESA project 
context, and communicate this to the ESCO; 

ii.​ Assure that the IGA maintains fidelity to the signed ESCO contract; 
iii.​ Interrogate the veracity of ECMs investigated by the ESCO; 
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iv.​ Identify ECMs missing from any initial ESCO analysis, and drive 
accountability with the ESCO to investigate these ECMs; 

v.​ Provide a deep review of project cashflows to verify savings methodology 
and projected energy savings that inform the ESCO performance 
guarantee; 

vi.​ Provide regular interim reports to PEA/the City on IGA progress, accept 
feedback, and work with ESCO to incorporate into improved IGA product; 

vii.​ Partner with the ESCO to present a final IGA to the Procurement Team for 
review, feedback and eventual approval; 

viii.​ Strongly advocate on the Procurement Team’s behalf with the ESCO to 
ensure the IGA is thorough and complete. 

21.​Q: How many preliminary designs deliverables will be provided by the ESCO/Contractor 
for review? 

a.​ A: This will be determined during contracting with the ESCO, and can be 
informed by Owner’s Representative experience and advice. A typical IGA 
development process includes at least a 30%, 60%, 90% and 100% draft. 

22.​Q: What level of onsite representation is desired for Construction, Commissioning and 
M&V? 

a.​ A: This can be agreed upon during contracting with the selected vendor. 
Typically, PEA expects onsite representation at least weekly in all three phases.  

23.​Q: Based on the last bullet of the Scope of Services, it seems to include three types of 
meetings. What is the preferred frequency of the meetings at each phase of the project? 

a.​ A: This can be agreed upon during contracting with the selected vendor. 
Typically, PEA expects at least weekly meetings to understand activities 
underway at each phase with a venue to provide feedback, ask questions or 
otherwise discuss project progress with the Owner’s Representative.  

24.​Q: Regarding Ad-hoc meetings, would a separate task for “Ad-hoc” meetings with a cost 
which will be replenished when utilized be acceptable? 

a.​ A: Yes.  
25.​Q: Regarding Construction Progress meetings with the ESCO/Contractor, will these only 

occur during the construction phase or will regular meetings be held with the 
ESCO/Contractor during the design and implementation phases as well? 

a.​ A: Construction Progress meetings are expected to take place during the 
construction phase. Separate meetings will take place during the Investment 
Grade Audit phase. 

26.​Q: In Section 4.3.3: Pricing for Services, The RFP states “Please provide hourly rates for 
each staff level.” Please clarify if pricing that only includes “hourly rates for each staff 
level” is sufficient in a submitted proposal, and if PEA has a preferred proposal cost 
structure.  

a.​ A: Respondents should follow Section 4.3.3 in developing their proposal cost 
structure, PEA does not have additional guidance to share. 
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